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Thursday, 15 October 2015


Charlie Porteous was fond of quoting Auden’s poem, about the hare that was happy in the morning because it was unable to read the hunter’s waking thoughts. But as he left home on this drizzling autumnal morning, he had no way of knowing that today, he was that hare. And that he wouldn’t be making it back to his bed tonight. Or ever.


To all who knew him, and indeed to any casual stranger who happened to glance at him, the good-humoured sixty-two-year-old, who would always stop to drop a banknote on a busker’s mat, appeared to be a man without a care in the world. With his confident gait, well-lunched face and stout frame, in his Savile Row three-piece chalk-striped suit, handmade shirt and salmon-pink-and-green-striped Garrick Club tie, he exuded the very image of old money and all the confidence that came with it.


But the much-liked – despite his mercurial temper – proprietor of the eponymously named Porteous Fine Arts Gallery was, right now, properly, badly and seriously in need of a big deal. Preferably cash. A lot of the stuff. The private bank which had once considered him an undoubted client, and for years had fawned over him, was now threatening foreclosure on a loan, on an amount which would bring his entire comfortable edifice crashing down.


But in his position he could not let his predicament show either to his staff or to any of his clientele in the rarefied circle in which he appeared the very model of respectability and trustworthiness. Not to his recently retired wife, Susan, who revelled in her role as a major charitable benefactor in their home city, and not to his son, Oliver, who had spent the past decade working in the fine arts department of Sotheby’s New York, to gain experience before joining him, and eventually taking the reins, allowing Porteous, like his own father before him, to take life easier and enjoy a very comfortable dotage.


He felt particularly upset about Oliver, who knew nothing of his problems yet, that he had let him down badly. Let all his family and staff down. For months now he’d had constant sleepless nights and had ended up taking antidepressants.


But finally it looked like Lady Luck had crapped on his head. Actually, in his right eye to be precise. It had happened as he’d looked up at the bird, a black crow, a few weeks ago. He remembered as a kid, when a magpie had dumped its load on his head, his deeply superstitious mother had told him it would bring him luck, and she had been right – that month he’d won £25 on his Premium Bonds. Result!


Grasping at straws, he wondered, was his luck about to turn now? Then, amazingly, it seemed it was.
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Thursday, 15 October 2015


Charlie Porteous did not tolerate fools gladly and his charming smile could turn into a withering glare at the flick of a switch. He had long been known as a man not to mess with but whose word was his bond, and his eye for a painting had long been the envy of many of his rival art dealers. That eye had served him well during the eight years he’d been on the team of experts, many years back now, on the Antiques Roadshow, for the peanuts the BBC then paid its experts – £100 per episode and a second-class rail ticket. But, being on the programme, he enjoyed the publicity and kudos it gave him – as well as the enhancement of his art gallery’s reputation.


Eventually the relationship had soured, the BBC producer deciding his arrogance towards people who turned up with what Porteous considered to be rubbish was not in the spirit of the show. Two things had eventually led to his firing.


The first was when he’d reduced an elderly woman to tears when he’d harshly pointed out the supposed Turner seascape she’d brought him, which had been in her family for years, was nothing more than a painted-over print, cuttingly telling her that a child painting by numbers could have done a more convincing job. And the second when, in a rare error of judgement, he’d declared a sixteenth-century Abel Grimmer landscape as genuine and worth conservatively £200,000 – and it had subsequently turned out to be a fake. Concerned for his reputation, he’d stubbornly refused to back down and admit his error.


A fastidious man, with a love for beautiful things in both his private and work lives, Charlie Porteous was a creature of habit that you could set the proverbial watch by – in his case a £45,000 Rolex Submariner.


Every weekday he left his gated mansion, in Brighton and Hove’s Tongdean Avenue, on the dot of 6.35 a.m., and drove his Bentley to Brighton station car park, catching the fast train to London’s Victoria station. From there his trusty London driver, Meehat El Hadidy, would whisk him in his Mercedes S-Class to his gallery in Duke Street, arriving at 8.20 a.m., well before his five members of staff.


Four evenings a week Porteous would travel home on the train from London Victoria, and he would walk through his front door at 7.15 p.m. precisely. But on Thursdays, he would dine at his members’ club, either with a client or with a chum from the art world, before taking a late train back. Tonight, however, he had spent a delightful evening socializing with his god-daughter at an Italian restaurant close to his gallery.


His father had given him a piece of advice he now bitterly wished he had heeded. It was to only invest in what he knew. But just over two years ago, a wealthy Australian property developer client, Kerry Dundas, who had bought paintings from him to the value of several millions over the past decade, had offered him a deal that, in the words of The Godfather, was an offer he could not refuse.


A rare chance to partner the man in buying an entire forty-two-storey block of flats in north London, Reynolds Heights, which was up for a bargain price for a quick sale, due to the current owner being overstretched. And named after a famous artist, it had to be a good omen, Porteous had thought.


For a £10 million investment each, they could turn a profit of, conservatively, £5 million within a year. His judgement had been clouded by the fact that the lease on the building adjoining his gallery was coming up for sale. If he could buy it, he would double the size of his gallery, leaving his son the legacy of being the largest dealer in their field in the country.


The bank had been happy to lend Porteous his share of the money, secured against his rock-solid assets, on a two-year term loan. Then, three months later, when they were in the process of making a sale every bit as profitable as Kerry Dundas had forecast, he was suddenly unable to contact the man.


The next thing he knew, after finally engaging his solicitors, was that Dundas was in prison in Dubai, under arrest for fraud, embezzlement and forgery.


Porteous had to face that he’d been duped and lost every penny of his investment. The bank, while initially sympathetic to his plight was, as he ruefully confided to a friend, just like the old joke: that bankers were people who lent you an umbrella when it was sunny and wanted it back when it was raining.


But tonight, for the first time in many sleepless months, he had an optimistic spring in his step as he alighted at Brighton station shortly after midnight, and he had good reason.


He had recently made, he was certain, one of the sweetest purchases of his life. Very possibly the sweetest by a country mile. One that potentially could get him out of the deep doodoo in which he was now mired.


His gallery, founded after the war by his late father, had built up a specialist reputation for paintings by leading French old masters such as Nicolas Poussin, Jean-Honoré Fragonard, Claude Lorrain and Élisabeth Vigée Le Brun. His old man, a former art student at Warsaw’s Academy of Fine Arts, who had arrived in England as a penniless Jewish refugee from Poland in 1938, was a natural-born salesman with an eye for a painting and an even wider eye for a bargain.


He’d decided that his assumed name of Lewis Porteous would play better in the snooty British art world and anti-Semitic post-war climate than the one with which he’d landed in England – Jakub Lewandowski.


Charlie Porteous had inherited his father’s appreciation of landscapes, portraits and mythological scenes of the French old masters, and like his old man he, too, had a talent for spotting a bargain. As well as that same instinct, possessed by all high-end art dealers, of being able to tell, pretty much instantly, whether a work was genuine or not. Mistakes were very rare. And through his network of well-paid scouts, with his knowledge and deep pockets, he was a feared hunter at auctions, especially those of provincial house sale contents.


The art business had been easier in his father’s time, when it was much less regulated. Back then, in the 1950s, ’60s and ’70s, if you liked a painting, you bought it, paying by cheque or cash. Simple as that. But not any more. Today, it wasn’t just about the provenance of the picture itself, it was about the provenance of the seller, too.


In this changed world, Porteous and his staff became, necessarily, bogged down in all kinds of due diligence, including money-laundering checks on the vendor. No picture for sale could be hung on the walls of the three floors of his Mayfair gallery until every aspect of its history and how it came to be here was bullet-proof.


In theory.


Like his father, Charlie was occasionally prepared to break the rules. Just so long as a painting he was offered was not on the Art Loss Register, which listed all known stolen works of art, he would occasionally take a punt on one that to his experienced eye looked authentic, and sell it straight on to one of a select few of his art collector clients who would take his word.


Like all dealers, he was well aware there were numerous major works that had vanished for many years and which once in a blue moon resurfaced. Paintings from way back, sometimes centuries ago, which had been hidden or lost during times of civil unrest such as the French Revolution or, more recently, looted by the Nazis in the Second World War. And some, while rumoured to have existed, had never been catalogued.


It was for this reason that, while he hadn’t cared for the thin, nervous Frenchman – who gave his name as Jean-Claude Dubois – who’d come into his gallery two weeks ago with a rectangular parcel wrapped in brown paper, he’d been willing to take a look at what he had to show him. He hadn’t cared either for the man’s story about how he had come by this painting. A load of cock and bull, in Porteous’s opinion, about cleaning out his late aunt’s attic and coming across it in a trunk.


But he had cared very much about what he’d seen when he’d unwrapped the package in his office at the rear of the gallery’s ground floor. A small, ornately framed landscape in oil, ten inches wide by twelve, of a spring scene. Two beautiful young lovers in elegant eighteenth-century dress, entwined in each other’s arms in an idyllic woodland setting surrounded by daffodils, with a waterfall behind them. The depiction of the trees was simply exquisite, imposing, yet light at the same time, adding so much to the charm. It was a gem. Love’s first bloom. Divine, powerful, awe-inspiring, classic.


He’d struggled to maintain an unimpressed poker face as he questioned Dubois on the provenance of this painting. Porteous knew all of the reputable fine arts dealers in London and indeed throughout Europe, and this sharply attired man, with the darting eyes of a feeding bird, twitching forehead and strobing smiles, wasn’t on his radar.


If this painting was genuine and not an extremely good forgery – and from the surface craquelure, the spots of mould and seal on the back, the damages to the frame and its general condition, all his instincts told him it was – then he was looking at a highly important long-lost work by one of his very favourite eighteenth-century painters, Jean-Honoré Fragonard. Spring. One of the four that Fragonard was known to have painted of the four seasons, but which had been lost for over two hundred years.


These Four Seasons were reputed to have been hanging in a privately owned French chateau but vanished, believed stolen or destroyed, during the French Revolution.


He was well aware, just as the man standing in front of him must have been – unless he was a total charlatan – that at the last major sale of a Fragonard, conducted by the auctioneers Bonhams, the artist’s portrait of François-Henri, fifth duc d’Harcourt, realized a world record for his work of £17,106,500.


Calmly, Porteous had asked the man how much he was looking for. The reply had been £50,000.


‘Why have you brought it to me?’ he had asked, now convinced by the low asking price he was dealing with someone profoundly dishonest.


‘I am told you are the leading expert in this period,’ Dubois had replied in heavily accented English.


‘Why don’t you put it into an auction – at Bonhams or Christie’s or Sotheby’s perhaps, Mr Dubois?’ he’d responded, testing the man.


The shifty look in the Frenchman’s eyes told him all he needed to know. ‘I thought I would come to you for a quick sale.’


Without even having to do any calculations, if genuine, Porteous knew its true value would be in the region of between £3 million and £5 million and maybe more in the right auction. If put together with the other three, to make the full set, that value could skyrocket by multiple times that amount.


This could be the ticket out of his financial mess.
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Friday, 16 October 2015


Very reluctantly the Frenchman had agreed to leave the painting with Porteous overnight, for him to examine it further and to check with the Art Loss Register.


After the man left, Porteous knew that if he put the sale of this picture through his normal system, he would have to do all the due diligence on the Frenchman, and he doubted it would check out.


To mask his enquiry, he emailed a list and photographs of fifteen paintings, including this one, to the Art Loss Register. The following morning, he’d debated taking it to a trusted picture restorer, without revealing the artist’s name, to ask his opinion on it, but had decided against, knowing the man would ask him awkward questions.


Among the fifteen enquiries that came back from the Art Loss Register, nothing was flagged up about the Fragonard.


Later the following day, after Charlie Porteous was satisfied enough to take a punt that the picture was not stolen, or a fake, and keeping it a secret from most of his staff, for one of the few times in his career he’d paid Jean-Claude Dubois for it from the cash fund he kept for such purposes in his safe.


During the past two weeks since then, he’d discreetly put word out to the more dubious dealers in his contacts list. None of them had been offered this painting, nor any of the three other Four Seasons of Fragonard. He’d also put word out to these same people that he was interested in finding anyone who had any of the three other missing paintings, Summer, Autumn and Winter, and that he would be willing to discuss a deal.


These were all dealers operating beyond the fringe of the coterie of respectable dealers, who’d helped him out on the occasions when he’d made an error of judgement either in acquiring a hot painting, or one that had turned out to be a fake, that he needed to dispose of in a hurry, with no questions asked.


Still concerned about the legitimacy of his purchase of this Fragonard, and wary of formally putting it up for sale, he had also discreetly notified a few of the wealthiest collectors among his clients, people who could comfortably afford to buy a painting of this value, and who would trust him.


One of these, George Astone, who had amassed one of the finest private collections of French masters in the country, had come straight back to him, very interested.


But Astone, a charming, ebullient character, who lived in grand style in a stately home ten miles north of Brighton, was immobile following a stroke. He couldn’t easily travel to London – could Porteous bring the picture to his home? From the photographs Porteous had emailed him in strictest confidence, he was very eager to buy it. Porteous had agreed to bring it over to him in the morning.


By sheer serendipity Vivaldi’s ‘Spring’, from his Four Seasons, was playing on Radio Three on the Bentley’s sound system as Porteous turned into his street. A good omen. He smiled, everything was good tonight!


He drove along the dark, tree-lined avenue, turned in and pulled up outside the wrought-iron gates of his home, in the faint glare of the street light across the road. He was looking forward to the crazy greeting he would get from his lurcher, Poussin, and hoped his barking wouldn’t wake his wife. It was 12.40 a.m. – Susan would be well asleep by now. He reached down into the cubbyhole below the dash, found the clicker and pressed it.


Nothing happened.


He pressed again, but still the gates did not move. He frowned. Was the battery dead? He pressed again and the little red light came on. But the gates didn’t move.


It wasn’t the first time this had ever happened. Cursing and making a mental note to call the gate people in the morning, he lowered his window and reached out to the panel to punch in the key code manually. But he was too far away.


Cursing again, he opened the car door and leaned across, oblivious to the shadow moving towards him from behind a tree as he tapped in the code: 7979 followed by the plus sign. Instantly the gates began, jerkily, to open and the bright security lights came on.


At the same instant, lights exploded inside his head as he felt a blow just behind his ear. It was followed immediately by a crashing whack from an iron bar. Shooting stars. Meteorites. The wildest fireworks display of his life going on in there while he stumbled forward and hit the ground, all his lights going out.


He never heard the words of his assailant, cursing him for being such a fat, heavy bastard as he heaved Porteous back into the driver’s seat of the car.


He never heard the slam of the driver’s door as blood oozed from the back of his smashed skull into the tan – with contrast cream stitching – Connolly leather headrest.
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Sunday, 21 July 2019


Harry Kipling made every customer feel like they were his new best friend. With his twinkly eyes, cheeky grin and messy hair, and invariably wearing shorts on all but the coldest of winter days, the stocky forty-five-year-old was constantly bursting with boyish enthusiasm and energy. He gave each customer the impression he could not do enough for them, and he sure tried.


Call me Harry and I’ll hurry! was his catchphrase. Heck, when you inherited an identical surname to the brand of one of Britain’s most famous cake makers, you either had to make a joke of it or change it.


And not so easy to change your name when your family business, Harold Kipling & Sons, Brighton’s Premier Builders, had been established in 1892 and carried all that goodwill with it.


Besides, it was an icebreaker for a new customer, when discussing extensions to the rear of their house, invariably to tell Harry to make sure he brought some exceedingly good cakes with him, heh-heh.


Business was busy right now, the demand for extensions and for loft conversions better than ever, and a decent turnover was coming in. But he struggled to make a profit year on year. His business would be considerably more profitable, his wife Freya often chided him, if he wasn’t quite so obliging to his customers.


Freya, also forty-five and his childhood sweetheart, was deputy head of a local school. Still the beautiful former head girl, with her long blonde hair and trim figure, she was the organized one in the marriage, and in the rare free time she had after dealing with all the paperwork mountain from her school, and doing her workouts, she helped Harry out with the books of his business – something he was rubbish at. And sometimes what she saw worried her.


Because he always wanted to be helpful, and because he was a genuinely kind man, Harry constantly did his customers favours here and there at no extra charge – invariably eating into his all-too-thin profit margins.


It would be nice, Freya mentioned, and very pointedly, if just occasionally he would do them some favours, too. Such as fixing the floor tile in the downstairs loo of their house, which had been loose for months, or the damp patch in the ceiling of their fourteen-year-old son Tom’s room. Not to mention the wonky wall light in their lounge. And the kitchen cabinet door which had had a broken hinge for as long as she could remember. And everything else that was wrong with their small, attractive but increasingly cluttered 1950s corner house in Mackie Crescent in the leafy Brighton suburb of Patcham.


‘It’s on my list, darling,’ was his standard response. ‘I’ll do it at the weekend.’


But he never did, because most Saturdays, if he wasn’t going with Tom to football at the Amex, to cheer on the Seagulls, or taking him to play rugby or tennis – the two sports Tom was obsessed with playing, which he and Freya encouraged – he would be putting in extra hours at a customer’s house, trying to get a job finished.


And on the alternate Sundays when he didn’t play golf, and while Tom slept in until midday, Harry enjoyed indulging with Freya in their favourite pastime together: scouring car boot sales. And then, when they returned home, after examining and cleaning or polishing their booty, he would take command of the kitchen – or the barbecue on summer days – to cook a roast.


Tom was a Type-1 diabetic. Increasingly, due to him badgering his parents that it was better both for the planet and his sugar levels, Harry had been experimenting with vegetarian and vegan roasts – and discovered to his and Freya’s surprise that they enjoyed both of these, as well as his increasing repertoire of fish and seafood, as much as, if not even more than, meat.


Invariably, after lunch, any good intentions Harry might have had of putting in an hour or two of DIY on the house were nixed by the several large glasses of the red Rioja he and Freya favoured. It would be feet up in front of the television for pretty much the rest of the day and evening, while Tom, if there wasn’t a major sports game on to watch, disappeared up to his room, into his world – alien to them – of computer gaming.


One of the passions Harry and Freya shared was a love of bric-a-brac, and on this Sunday morning they were among the first in line for the 8 a.m. opening of the Sayers Common car boot sale, five miles north of Brighton.


Both were well aware, from long experience, that if you wanted to snap up bargains, you had to be there at doors opening to have any chance against the professional dealers. And they had a well-rehearsed and practised plan of splitting up the moment they entered, Freya going left and Harry going right, scouring the stalls for bargains.


Freya collected Toby jugs, teapots, art deco figurines and Brighton prints. Harry loved police memorabilia – in particular badges – old photographs, Victorian watercolours and, more recently, silver teaspoons.


As usual, the scavenging dealers ran ahead of him, scouring the tables and the unpacked boxes below them, putting item after item into their old carrier bags. The grass was damp underfoot and the early morning air had a slight chill.


Harry was glad of his waterproof work boots, gilet and baseball cap keeping the mist at bay. There was an appetizing smell of coffee, doughnuts and frying bacon in the air. He looked forward to their Sunday guilty treat – which they didn’t tell Tom about – of stopping at the stall serving all those, after they’d satisfied themselves they’d missed nothing, for their egg and bacon sarnie breakfast fix, with an Americano for him, latte for Freya.


He walked past a trestle table loaded with old clothes and soft toys. Another with horrible porcelain ornaments. But all the same, he stopped, checking them out carefully, and spotted a tarnished old Brighton Police badge. He negotiated it down from £7.50 to a fiver, slipped it into his pocket and moved on. The next stall was mostly Dinky and Corgi toys, with the occasional Matchbox car, but none of them looked particularly old. He scanned them for a police vehicle, but spotted none and moved on again.


On the next, he saw two hideous clowns and shuddered, wondering who on earth would want them – they looked like they would haunt you forever. But next to them were several Toby jugs, and he texted Freya to alert her. Then he noticed a large box containing pictures, on the grass beneath the stall. On the other side of the table sat a friendly-looking young couple, sharing a cigarette, the tantalizingly sweet smoke drifting his way.


Harry sniffed appreciatively. ‘That smells so good!’ he said.


‘Have one!’ the young man said, offering him an open pack.


‘I just quit. I’d kill for one, but my wife would kill me if I did,’ Harry replied. ‘Thanks all the same. Mind if I take a look in that box?’


‘Go ahead,’ the woman said. ‘We’ve just been clearing out my nan’s house – the stuff that was up in her loft. Some frames are OK, but the pictures aren’t that special.’


Harry pulled the box out and began to rummage through the contents, hoping for a Victorian watercolour or a Brighton print. She was right about the quality of the paintings, he thought; they were complete grot. A horrible vase full of flowers in an ugly cream frame; a Cornish harbour seascape with yachts looking like they were balanced on top of the water; a cheesy sunset over a flock of what he presumed were meant to be sheep.


Then he came to an ornate, gilded frame, which looked genuinely old. He lifted it out. The painting, in oil, was about ten by twelve inches. It was an ugly portrait, an elderly woman’s face so thin it resembled a skull with skin stretched over it, with strands of wispy white hair. Some bad amateur’s attempt at a portrait of their granny? he wondered.


But the gilded frame was beautiful. Real quality. He ran his hands around the edges, noticed some damage here and there, but he knew a chap in the nearby town of Lewes who specialized in repairing frames. He turned it over and looked at the rear. It was canvas, clearly old, with some markings too faded to read.


The frame alone, he figured, would be worth fifty quid, if not more, judging by the prices the restorer in Lewes charged for his. A few Sundays ago, he’d bought a watercolour of the old Brighton chain pier that was about this size. It would look stunning in this frame.


Standing up, holding the picture, he asked, ‘How much do you want for this?’


‘Twenty-five quid,’ the young man said after a few moments.


‘Would you take twenty?’


‘Go on then.’


As he peeled off a banknote from his wad, Harry asked, ‘Don’t suppose you’ve got a bag for it?’


The young woman smiled. ‘Actually, I do. It’s your lucky day!’ She dug an arm down to the ground and produced a white plastic bag.


Twenty minutes later, munching on their egg and bacon baps, Freya and Harry triumphantly showed each other their purchases. Freya produced a flat-sided teapot painted with flowers. ‘This is similar to a Clarice Cliff, I really like it; it was nowhere near that kind of money but still worth something!’


He looked at it carefully, admiring it. ‘You could be right, well done you!’


‘What did you get, darling?’


‘A police badge, and this!’ He pulled the painting out of the bag.


‘Oh my God, she is horrible!’ Freya exclaimed. ‘Like, really creepy! Yech.’


‘Forget the picture, it’s the frame! Don’t you think it’s lovely?’


She nodded reluctantly. ‘Yes, fine, but the picture, yech, it freaks me out.’


‘I agree, I don’t like the picture either, but the frame is a total bargain.’


‘As long as you get rid of that creepy head staring at me!’ She wrinkled her face.


‘I’ll cut it out and burn it as soon as we get home.’


But, like so many jobs Harry promised to do, he didn’t. When they got home, shortly after 11 a.m., Tom was still up in his room, no doubt asleep after spending half the night playing Fortnite or whatever the latest game he was now into. He leaned the picture against a glass wall in the conservatory annexe to the kitchen, which served as both family room and depository for their purchases, flopped on a sofa with another mug of coffee and watched golf on the television for half an hour, before jumping up to begin the lunch preparations.


As he did so, he saw their adored rescue cat, Jinx, was eyeing the painting suspiciously.


‘See,’ Freya said, walking in, ‘Jinx doesn’t like her either.’


‘Reminds you both of your mother, does she?’ he said, then ducked as, grinning, she threw a tangerine at him.
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Monday, 16 September


Roy Grace sat in his small office, his swivel chair turned sideways, giving him a view of some of the particularly uninspiring concrete buildings of this part of the Sussex Police HQ campus, a patch of grass and a car park. The sky was overcast, matching his gloomy mood. It was just two weeks since his son, Bruno, had died, hit by a car crossing the main road outside his school, and he was finding work a welcome distraction.


As he had done so many times in the days since, he was fighting tears. A fight he regularly lost and was losing again now. He pulled his handkerchief out and dabbed his eyes. Shit. Why, why, why? A year and a half ago he hadn’t even known that Bruno existed. Before she had disappeared, his former wife, Sandy, had kept it secret from him that she had been pregnant.


The first he had known about Bruno was a phone call from a friend in the Munich branch of the Landeskriminalamt – the LKA. Marcel Kullen informed him that a woman in a coma, after being hit by a taxi while crossing the road, might be his long-missing wife Sandy. And she did indeed turn out to be her. She had died then, and now the son they’d had was dead, in similar circumstances.


How Bruno came to be crossing that road, just an hour or so after he’d dropped him at school on that fateful morning, no one could explain. Nor could anyone explain, as yet anyhow, why Bruno had failed to see the car which had been travelling within the speed limit, according to the report from the Collision Investigation Unit. The only eyewitness to the accident itself, a woman walking her dog, had said he’d appeared to be absorbed in his phone.


Roy Grace was desperately sad, thinking about the upcoming funeral. And if it wasn’t going to be harrowing enough, the presence of Sandy’s parents, with whom he had never got on, and who at one point had suspected him of murdering Sandy, would for sure not make it any easier.


He dabbed his eyes again, took several deep breaths and turned his focus back to work, pretty much the only thing, along with Cleo’s support, that had got him through these past days. They were expecting their second child together in December, which was at least something to focus on. And at work, fortunately, he had a cold case that deeply interested him.


The murder clear-up rate in the UK averaged around 90 per cent year-on-year – among the highest in the world. But that still left one in ten murders unsolved and he was acutely aware that for each of these there was a victim for whom justice had not been served, and bereft loved ones left without answers. Murders made sensational news headlines, but as the saying went, today’s news wraps tomorrow’s fish and chips. While the rest of the nation moved on to the next day’s stories, for those loved ones of the victim the pain would never cease. But at least a successful conclusion, in the form of a conviction, would bring some closure and enable them to carry on with their lives.


And as the Detective Superintendent also well knew, most experienced homicide detectives had at least one unsolved case they’d handled that bugged them for years after. For some, that case continued to haunt them even beyond the end of their careers. The one that got away, leaving them forever thinking, what have I missed – what vital clue? Some retired detectives went to their graves with that question still unanswered.


Police files on unsolved murders in the UK never closed. And all the time, when there was the likelihood that the offender was still alive, or there were family members who would benefit from closure, these cases were kept under periodic review.


Relationships changed, and with them, sometimes, loyalties. A partner or spouse who had once provided an alibi might, after the relationship had ended – especially if badly and they were angry enough – come forward to the police. In addition, as technology advanced, improved techniques for recovering vital evidence such as fingerprints and DNA could put someone who had long thought they’d got away scot-free behind bars.


Every piece of evidence recovered from a crime scene was carefully tagged and filed in a locked storeroom. Ready to yield its secrets years, maybe even decades, after the crime had been committed.


As Head of Major Crime for Surrey and Sussex Police, Roy Grace had overall responsibility for both current homicide investigations and the regular review of cold cases. He’d recently had a drink with a newly retired colleague, Nick Sloan, a brilliant Detective Superintendent he’d greatly respected and had learned a lot from. Sloan had confessed, over a pint, that he had one regret in his career, a murder case that still haunted him, which he’d been unable to nail. He’d missed something, he was certain, but what?


A wealthy London art dealer, Charlie Porteous, had been bludgeoned to death in his Bentley in the entrance to the driveway of his house. The murder had happened late at night in a public street, in an exclusive residential area in the city of Brighton and Hove.


Sloan’s team had established that Porteous had some cash-flow problems and, shortly before his murder, had been touting a painting he’d acquired from a dubious source. He’d paid cash – something apparently completely out of character, as ordinarily he would have paid by cheque or bank transfer, to leave a trail, as was the customary procedure for art dealers in case of any come-back.


On the night of Porteous’s death, Sloan’s team had established that the dealer had been out to dinner with his god-daughter, Carrie Hepworth. She worked part-time at the gallery and they had a close relationship. The investigation was satisfied that this was purely platonic, a totally avuncular relationship rather than anything untoward. They’d also established his wife, Susan, a pillar of Brighton and Hove society, was very fond of Carrie too, and she had stayed at the couple’s house on many occasions. They’d taken her under their wing after some troubled teenage years.


But the massive and extensive investigation, given the name Operation Canvas, had drawn a blank. The long list of potential suspects had included Porteous’s employees, a dealer they’d identified to whom he had touted this painting – seemingly a long-lost work by the eighteenth-century French artist Fragonard – and the wealthy collector in Sussex who had expressed interest in seeing the painting.


At the time of his investigation, Nick Sloan had been under pressure, due to a spate of murders in Sussex higher than the normal average for the county of twelve a year, and the then impatient Head of Crime had wanted him to move on as he’d exhausted all his lines of enquiry. Sloan asked Grace, when he next reviewed the county’s cold cases, to take a close look at the Porteous murder.


Grace assured him he would. He now had the principal case files in his office.


He briefly turned his attention away from work to his best man duties at his friend and colleague Glenn Branson’s wedding to Argus reporter Siobhan Sheldrake sometime later this year. It had been set for October but because of Bruno’s death they had decided to postpone it and had yet to fix a date. So there were quite a few things to rearrange.


The current fashion seemed to be a three-day stag-do bender in some European capital, or even somewhere far away like Las Vegas, but Glenn just wanted something local and low-key – to Grace’s relief. Even so, Glenn was a popular man both in and out of the force, so it was going to be more a question of who they didn’t invite. At least that was a high-class problem, he thought, but he had a reputational responsibility. A bunch of drunk men, including a number of detectives, cavorting through the city of Brighton and Hove was never going to be a good plan. And he had made one solemn promise to Glenn, that, unlike one of their much earlier cases, burial in a coffin in remote woodlands was not going to be on the list of options at his disposal.


Fortunately, after successfully wrapping up his last case of an apparently missing wife, these past weeks had been a rare quiet time at work. And he’d been grateful of that quiet after the death of Bruno. His team’s previous case – in which he’d had a relatively minor role – involved a bent legal aid solicitor running a county lines drug-dealing network. It had ended in a result, of sorts, but one which had tied him up in a major internal as well as an IOPC enquiry, which would be ongoing for some while. But he and his team had done everything by the book, and he wasn’t worried about the eventual outcome.


Right now, his main focus during this period of downtime was on his cold cases so he could get his brain thinking about other things. And while looking through the list of some thirty unsolved murders in the counties of Surrey and Sussex that merited assessment for possible review, he found himself drawn to the one his old friend and mentor Nick Sloan had talked about a couple of months ago.


The thick master file, labelled Operation Canvas, sat on his desk in front of him, and fourteen boxes containing evidence, including witness statements, crime scene photographs, forensic reports, CCTV footage printouts, ANPR analysis, phone records and association charts, were stacked on the floor around his desk. There were another twelve boxes still to go through in the locked evidence store. Additionally, he’d requested the HOLMES team to load their entire file on his system.


His purpose in carrying out this assessment was to see if anything had been missed, as Nick Sloan felt there had been. Was it worth putting more money and resources into it or not?


He resumed the laborious task of reading through Sloan’s policy book on Operation Canvas, in which the former Detective Superintendent had diligently noted all the decisions he’d made during the investigation, and his reasons, at the end of which were his conclusions before the unsolved murder had been filed.


This detailed report set out a summary of the murder of Charlie Porteous, followed by the lines of enquiry, strategies and forensic assessments that had been made. Sloan’s purpose in writing this, as was normal for any SIO, was to allow any new Senior Investigating Officer, at a later date reinvestigating the case, to have an overview of what had taken place.


It had taken Roy Grace three days of reading through the paperwork, and the HOLMES report on his screen, to conclude that Nick Sloan’s hunch was right. This was a case that very definitely merited review, to decide whether or not there was sufficient evidence to warrant the time and resources required to reopen it. In order to do that he would have to establish there was a more than reasonable chance of securing an arrest and conviction. And the more he read, the more confident he felt that there was.
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Thursday, 19 September


Norman Potting was the last to arrive, as he usually was at any briefing, lumbering in through the door and shutting it behind him with the sound of a safe dropping from a great height onto concrete. Muttering an apology for being late, although he wasn’t, he was actually on time for once – just – the DS grabbed a chair, joining his colleagues around one end of the oval table in the conference room of the Major Crime suite. ‘Learned something interesting today,’ he announced, his gruff voice more croaky than usual. ‘Herrings communicate by farting.’


‘That’s very helpful to know,’ Grace said, a little tersely.


‘You obviously read a classy newspaper, Norman,’ Velvet Wilde jibed.


After he had recently gone through a period of actually looking quite sharp, shedding some weight, and with his former comb-over long gone in favour of a modern, shaven look, Roy Grace noticed the DS was slipping a bit these days. Some of his shirts, like the purple-striped one today, had frayed collars. He guessed, sadly, that was the real Norman all over, a man becoming increasingly ragged around the edges through the trials of life, some of his own making, some totally undeserved and beyond his control. He felt a deep affection for this old war horse and his abilities as a detective that many others in the force failed to see.


Grace checked his watch, before looking up at his small, hand-picked group. ‘The time is 4 p.m., Thursday, 19 September,’ he announced. ‘This is the first meeting to review Operation Canvas, the unsolved murder of art dealer Charles Stuart Porteous in the early hours of Friday, 16 October 2015.’


In front of him lay a fresh investigator’s notebook and a policy book, both labelled Operation Canvas – Review, as well as his printed notes. He glanced around at his team. DI Glenn Branson, his deputy SIO, wearing an unusually sombre tie and even more unusually sombre expression, was responsible for intelligence. Seated next to him was thirty-four-year-old Luke Stanstead, acting as intel researcher. Then Potting and DC Velvet Wilde, together responsible for reviewing all the witness statements and actions of Detective Superintendent Nick Sloan’s former team and making recommendations. Next along sat twenty-seven-year-old DS Jack Alexander, tall with ramrod posture, smartly suited with shiny black shoes, responsible for heading up the forensic review assisted by CSI Chris Gee from the forensics team.


The final member was Pauline Sweeney – known as Polly. The energetic recent addition to his team had not long ago retired as a DC, then returned to join the force as a civilian investigator. With her fair hair pinned up, dressed in a black top, tight-fitting checked trousers and laced high-heeled sandals, Polly brought a touch of glamour to the team. Grace had known her for many years and liked her, as much for her sunny personality as for her brilliant skills at her job. And she was both a fighter and survivor, having taken two years out in the middle of her career to battle and defeat illness.


‘We’ll continue for now with the name originally given to this enquiry, Operation Canvas,’ Grace announced.


‘And who says computers don’t have a sense of humour, eh chief?’ Potting quipped.


Grace smiled; he was right. The names given to each enquiry were thrown up at random by a computer, but often they were uncannily close to the subject, as was the case here. ‘Won’t be long before we detectives aren’t needed at all, will it, Norman?’


Potting tutted. ‘Hope I’m long retired before that day, chief.’


Already well past his years of service to qualify for his pension, Grace secretly hoped that day would still be a long time off for his colleague. Focusing on his notes he announced, ‘Right, I’d like to stress that this is only an initial assessment to decide whether a full reopening of this case should take place. And it must not interfere with any new and current Major Crime enquiry that comes in. Clear?’


Everyone except for Branson, who was preoccupied with his phone, nodded. Grace shot a glance at his friend, wondering what was wrong. Glenn’s whole body language was odd; he normally radiated confidence but today he seemed decidedly downbeat.


Behind Grace were three whiteboards on easels. On one was a carefully curated selection of the original crime scene photographs, showing Charlie Porteous slumped dead in the driver’s seat of his Bentley, in close-up and wide angle. On another were photographs from the postmortem, several close-ups of which showed his smashed-in skull. On the third was Porteous’s family and association chart.


‘Key evidence I’ve extrapolated so far from Nick Sloan’s report is that at the time of his death, Porteous might have been in possession of a high-value painting. He had possibly brought it with him down to Brighton, from his London gallery, to show it to a potentially interested collector in Sussex. This person was identified as George Astone – who was subsequently eliminated from Sloan’s enquiries. But at this moment it is only hearsay he had this painting with him, and we don’t have full details of its provenance.’


Glancing down at his notes, Grace said, ‘Paraphrasing from Nick Sloan’s notebook entries, he was the duty SIO on the night the murder happened. He has recorded being called out at 8.10 a.m. on the morning of Friday, 16 October, by the duty inspector at Brighton police station. Earlier that morning a newspaper delivery person called the police, stating she had seen what looked like a body in the driver’s seat of a Bentley at the front gates of Tongdean House, 173 Tongdean Avenue, Hove. The dead man was subsequently identified as Charlie Porteous.’


Grace sipped his mug of tea. ‘Around 3 a.m. of that same morning, Porteous’s wife, Susan, who hadn’t left the house all day, had alerted the police as her husband had failed to arrive home from London and wasn’t answering his phone. That call had been logged, with no action taken at the time. The then duty inspector at Brighton nick understandably took the view it was too soon to involve the police.’


Everyone on the team nodded, their eyes drawn towards the whiteboard with the gruesome blow-up photographs of the dead man, apart from Glenn Branson, who was still focused on his phone, texting.


The majority of murders that happened, year on year, in the counties of Sussex and Surrey were, sadly, Grace thought, domestic-related. Mostly, the law-abiding people of these prosperous so-called home counties were able to sleep easy in their beds, untouched by the violence happening in other less privileged strata of society – and in other more violent parts of the country.


Which was why the image of the portly, balding man, upright and lifeless in the driver’s seat of his silver Bentley Flying Spur, the back of his skull smashed in, and a deep gouge behind his ear, the leather headrest stained by his brains and blood, drew everyone’s attention. It stood out clearly among the very many murder scenes Grace had attended during his career to date. As it evidently did with his team.


The Detective Superintendent was equally well aware that it wasn’t his job to discriminate or decide which murder victims were more important. The life of a rich person was of no more or no less value than that of a street person. At every murder scene he’d ever attended, Roy Grace had looked down at the victim and felt profound sadness. That deceased human being had once been someone’s child, someone’s wife or husband or sibling. There was no unspoken hierarchy in homicide investigation. Whether it was a pillar of society or a particularly nasty criminal, you did your best to find out who had committed the crime, arrest them and bring them to justice.


But, in spite of that, Grace told his team that this particular unsolved murder merited a review. He went on to give his reasons, extrapolated from Sloan’s very detailed notes, explaining that Charlie Porteous was by all accounts a well-liked and respected family man as well as a generous philanthropist, and a highly respected art dealer, with no known enemies. After her retirement his wife had started as a volunteer helper at the city’s treasured Martlets Hospice, and the couple had been for years significant benefactors to many local charities.


Porteous had been struck on the back of his head, three times for good measure, by a heavy, blunt weapon that had never been identified, and he had a deep laceration behind his ear. The car was left tight to the gates of the property and upon examination there had been no obvious interference with the gate mechanism although his wife had mentioned they did occasionally have issues with their function. Nick Sloan’s team had never been able to establish a clear motive for his death.


Charlie Porteous’s rare vintage Rolex, which was insured for £45,000, was missing from his wrist, along with his wallet, in which according to his wife he only kept around £50 in cash, as well as his gold wedding band and his mobile phone. A possible random street robbery was one line of enquiry, and some credence was given to this when his wallet, minus any cash and his credit cards, but still with his driving licence inside, had been found dumped in a bin close to Brighton railway station.


Sloan’s team had checked all the man’s known credit and debit cards and no one had attempted to use any subsequently. With his reputation for being thorough, Sloan had his outside enquiry team check with every second-hand jeweller in the city and in a much wider area beyond, as well as eBay and other online sites, but neither the watch nor the wedding ring had appeared for sale.


Another major line of enquiry, Grace informed them, concerned the artwork. There was no painting found in the Bentley, but the team had come up with considerable evidence that Porteous may have had it with him at the time of his murder.


Earlier that night, the victim had been with his god-daughter, Carrie Hepworth, at a restaurant in London, although there was no evidence, certainly at the time, to implicate her in his murder. And from the information she had given in several interviews, Porteous, very excited about his bargain purchase, had showed her the painting at dinner, telling her he had broken his rule about paying cash. When he left the restaurant he carried the painting concealed beneath his raincoat over his arm.


Grace informed his team that CCTV at Brighton station had picked up Charlie Porteous alighting from the train from London’s Victoria station at 12.17 a.m. The last sighting on the station’s cameras had been of him entering the car park two minutes later, again with his raincoat over his arm.


Working in conjunction with the London Metropolitan Police Arts and Antiquities Unit, corroborating that story, Sloan’s team learned that prior to his death, Charlie Porteous had made an acquisition that he was very excited about. A painting he’d bought from an unidentified Frenchman, for the sum of £50,000, which Porteous believed – backed up by an expert he had apparently mentioned or shown it to, who had subsequently been identified and interviewed – was the work of the eighteenth-century French master Jean-Honoré Fragonard.


The price Porteous had apparently paid, just a fraction of the true worth of the painting – if it was genuine – had been a major factor in the original enquiry, raising many questions. Why had a respected dealer, who must have known the true worth of the painting, bought it from someone unknown to the art world for such little money? And without a receipt or any financial record?


Neither the French police nor Interpol had been able to trace the seller, and Sloan’s team concluded whoever this person was had given a false name. The team had been told it was possible the picture had been stolen to order by a collector in a country beyond Interpol’s reach, but there were no reports of the theft of this painting. Equally, they had learned, from the outside enquiry team’s conversations with dealers in the art world, assisted by Met detectives, that there were wealthy individuals who got a kick out of having a private gallery of paintings that no one else in the world could see. To date, the provenance of the painting remained unresolved.


ANPR cameras in and around Brighton had provided no leads, nor had any CCTV cameras in Porteous’s residential neighbourhood.


Grace took a breath and then continued. ‘The offender – or offenders – left no forensic evidence at the crime scene. However, a partial fingerprint was recovered from a restaurant bill inside the victim’s wallet that was discovered in the bin. All members of staff at the restaurant in London where the receipt was from were printed, but no match was found. It is possible, therefore, that the print is from one of the offenders, at the time he or she rummaged through the wallet for cash.’


Norman Potting raised a hand. ‘What about tapings, chief?’


‘I was just coming to that, Norman. Good thinking, though. The forensics officers took tapings off Porteous’s outside garments, and with the advances in forensics that have occurred during these past four years these should be sent for analysis to see if any potential fibres from the attacker’s clothing might be identified. We should also see if anything new, such as blood from the attacker, might be present, which we could obtain DNA from.’ He turned to Alexander. ‘Jack, I’m giving you this action as part of your forensic review.’ Then he looked up. ‘Any comments at this stage?’


Alexander raised his hand. ‘Sir, what is puzzling me is why Porteous was bludgeoned to death. If it was just a straightforward street robbery, the offender would have surely threatened him with a knife or maybe a gun and he would have handed over his valuables. It indicates something else going on, to me.’


‘Such as, Jack?’ Grace asked.


‘If this was a targeted robbery and the offenders were primarily after the painting, maybe they didn’t want Porteous reporting its theft. I’ve read that famous paintings are hard to sell in some territories, because they are instantly recognizable. Perhaps whoever the offender was knew this and reckoned it would be easier to sell if it wasn’t reported.’


Grace thought about this for some moments. ‘That makes sense, Jack, good point.’ He made a note then looked up at Branson.


‘Any thoughts, Glenn?’ Grace asked him, deliberately to get his attention focused.


The DI looked up with a bewildered expression. ‘I’m sorry, boss, I was elsewhere. Thoughts, boss?’


Not wanting to disrespect his deputy SIO, Grace said to his team, ‘We’ll take a five-minute break.’ Then to Branson with a sideways nod of his head, ‘Quick chat in private, something I need to ask you.’


‘Sure, boss.’
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Thursday, 19 September


Out in the corridor, closing the door behind him, Roy Grace said to Glenn Branson, ‘Mate, what’s the matter – you’re not right, are you? What’s up?’


The tall, powerfully built DI looked on the verge of tears. The last time Grace had seen him look like this was three years back when he had split up, badly, with his wife, Ari.


‘I don’t want to lump you with this shit right now.’ He sighed and shook his head balefully. ‘Siobhan and me had a big row last night – I don’t know – I’ve a feeling we might be busting up. She thinks we should delay the wedding until—’


‘Until when?’


He shrugged.


‘What? Tell me? What’s happened? You seem so good together.’


Branson stood in silence for some moments. ‘Yeah, well, you know when we first started going out, I said she was keen to have kids, right?’


Grace nodded, vaguely remembering.


‘Well out of the blue she’s now told me that there’s no way she wants any for years because she’s too focused on her career. I’m gutted, mate, and it all kicked off yesterday.’


‘Are you in such a rush? You’ve already got two lovely kids.’


‘Yeah, and I don’t want there to be a huge age gap between Sam and Remi and any kids I have with Siobhan.’


‘Kids aren’t everything, mate. I think she’s a great person.’


‘For a journalist?’ Branson’s expression briefly thawed.


Grace smiled. ‘A great person, full stop.’


Again Branson nodded. ‘I think that too, but I saw another side of her, she’s so driven and ambitious, I’ve no hope of changing her mind at the moment. And I’d love more kids together while mine are still young. She’s so good with my two, I thought we were on the same page and we’d have kids straight away. You know I love that movie Brighton Rock, right? The original with Dickie Attenborough, not the remake.’


Grace nodded again.


‘I didn’t realize it was actually a book first.’


‘There’s a surprise! Quite a lot of the best films are.’


‘Yeah, well I was watching it again the other night – a kind of extended version – and they were talking about the author.’


‘Graham Greene,’ Grace added.


‘So they were quoting Greene talking about his books and he said that every writer has to have a chip of ice in their heart.’


Grace glanced at his watch, unsure where this was going and mindful of getting back into the briefing. He had a meeting on diversity in the police force to attend in an hour’s time. ‘OK,’ he said, ‘so are you saying Siobhan has that chip? Of ice?’


‘Right, so Siobhan told me she’s been asked to write a big piece for the Argus on all the officers who’ve lost their jobs through misconduct in recent years. She asked me what names I could think of, and I just lost it, after the blow about kids. I asked her why the hell couldn’t she write a piece about all the good work the police do, all the dangers they face, all the service they give to the community, rather than trashing them, trying to turn the Argus into some scandal rag like the old News of the World?’


‘I agree with that!’


Branson looked forlornly back at him. ‘Yeah, thanks. But it didn’t play well. She said she wasn’t going to compromise her journalistic integrity simply because she was engaged to a copper. And if that was going to be a problem for the future, as well as not having kids just yet, then maybe we didn’t have a future.’ The DI leaned against the wall, tears welling in his eyes. ‘Shit, man, I love that woman. She’s my future. I-I just – you know, ever since Ari – I’ve struggled.’


Grace said calmly, ‘Glenn, this isn’t a discussion we’re going to be able to resolve in a couple of minutes now. Want a drink later, after work?’


‘I’d like that, please.’


‘You are going to have to look at it from Siobhan’s perspective, too. She’s ambitious, it’s understandable she might not want kids yet and she will want to write stories that give her headlines, then you need to accept that it’s the negative ones that get those headlines. How much happy news do you ever read in a paper? You and I both hate corrupt police officers as well as those that let down the force.’


‘Guess you’re right. I know you’re right. But I care passionately about the police, Roy. I hate seeing us attacked in the press and media.’


‘Then try using your influence, on a very influential journalist, to change all that?’


Looking only slightly convinced, Glenn Branson nodded.
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Thursday, 19 September


As Grace and Branson sat back down in the room, Jack Alexander raised his hand again. ‘It seems to me, sir, that the painting is key. If we could establish that Charlie Porteous had it with him when he was murdered, and it was taken, that would possibly rule out a street robbery, wouldn’t it?’


‘Possibly, but not necessarily, Jack,’ Grace said. ‘These people tend to grab anything they think they can flog – often drug users desperate to earn enough for their next fix. But I agree that if we could conclusively establish he had the picture with him it would give us another major line of enquiry. Nick Sloan did have his team contact all art galleries and auction houses in Sussex and the bordering counties, as well as wider afield and online, to see if anyone had been offered a painting by this artist – and drew a blank. But as you rightly suggest, it remained a major line of enquiry at the time he had to wind down Operation Canvas.’


Once more, Grace looked at his notes. ‘The people remaining on the list of significant witnesses include his god-daughter, Carrie Hepworth, along with his other gallery staff, all of whom need to be interviewed again. As should his London driver, Meehat El Hadidy. But we need to bear in mind that the financial investigator, John Camping, had at that time been unable to provide evidence that any of them had benefited financially from Porteous’s murder. The team had also eliminated the collector, George Astone, for whom Charlie Porteous had supposedly brought the painting down to Sussex for him to view, but he also needs to be interviewed again.’


Stanstead, next to Potting, raised a hand.


‘Yes, Luke?’ Grace said.


‘Sir, over the last few days, as requested, I’ve been looking through the list of Charlie Porteous’s neighbours who were interviewed by Nick Sloan’s outside enquiry team. There’s one missing.’


Grace frowned. ‘There is?’


‘I’ve done a search on Google Earth, against all the residences listed in the enquiry. There’s one that’s been omitted – a house some distance up the road, on the opposite side to the Porteouses’ home, called Tongdean Ridge. It’s a few hundred yards away. The report says that the owners were abroad at the time, at their second home in Marbella.’


‘Which would explain it,’ Grace replied.


Stanstead shook his head. ‘No, they have two dogs – Rhodesian Ridgebacks – as well as a cat and seven hens. I’ve contacted the owners, Mr and Mrs Malby. They told me they have house-sitters whenever they are away, a couple called Joe and Liz Lee, who were in residence at the time of Porteous’s murder. I’ve since spoken to Mr Lee. He says he was never contacted by the police, probably because they had left the country on a six-month house-sit abroad.’


Frowning, Grace looked at him. ‘Did he see anything that might be helpful?’


‘Actually, yes, he did. Mr Lee is a former army officer and told me he suffers from insomnia. He would often go for a walk in the early hours, and he remembers on that particular Friday morning seeing a car accelerating hard along Tongdean Avenue. He thought it was a little strange, as it’s normally quiet – as you know, it’s a very exclusive residential street – but he said that lately there had been more car drivers using these roads as a rat run.’


‘Did he get a description of the car?’


Stanstead smiled. ‘Better than that, boss. He managed to write down part of its registration – he often wrote down and reported cars driving too fast along there.’


‘Nice work, Luke,’ Grace said. ‘Has the owner been identified?’


‘Not yet, but we are narrowing the possible matching vehicles down.’


Grace then sat thoughtfully for some moments. ‘Arrange to find and interview this Mr Lee as a matter of priority. We need the partial fingerprint found on the bill in Porteous’s wallet to be run again against the database, to see if anything new comes up. Let’s revisit the tapings from his clothes. As I said, we need to interview again this collector in Sussex that Porteous was going to show the painting to. And we want to find out and eliminate any dealer that he might have shown this picture to, prior to his murder.’


He was silent again for a short while, as he made more notes, before looking up with a specific list of actions for each member of his team. When he had finished, he said, ‘I suggest we meet again here, at 9 a.m. on Wednesday, 25 September, to review everyone’s findings. Any questions?’


There were none.
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Thursday, 19 September


Roy Grace arrived home shortly after 10 p.m. and sniffed a very faint aroma of something appetizing, but also something burnt. As he entered the cottage, he was greeted by Humphrey, their dog, and a quiet hello from Cleo, although she didn’t look up. She was on the sofa in the living area, surrounded by her Open University papers, which their recently fostered cat, Reggie, was clawing and playing with. Reggie’s owner was in prison, and sadly the cat wouldn’t be able to stay with them long term, but they were enjoying his antics so far. Cleo’s dissertation was due to be handed in next month, hopefully well before the baby arrived. All going well, she would achieve the MA in Philosophy that she had worked so hard for and could graduate next summer.


‘I’m sorry, darling,’ he said, raising his arms as he went over, bent down and kissed her on the forehead.


‘You said you’d be home at seven’.


He nodded ruefully, loosening his tie and pulling off his suit jacket. ‘I’m really sorry. Glenn’s in a terrible state, I had to try to help him.’


‘I thought you had a phone, Roy? You could have called, texted, messaged me. My turn to cook supper tonight and I asked you what you wanted and you said fish. I got a lovely piece of turbot from the market, now it’s overcooked and so are the vegetables. I’m afraid I ate over an hour ago. I’ve left yours in the warming oven of the Aga.’


‘Thanks.’ He perched on an arm of the sofa. ‘Honestly, I’m so sorry, but he’s genuinely worried.’


‘Glenn?’ She still looked cross.


‘He wanted to have a quick drink after work to talk about it. I had to, I’ve not seen him like this since he broke up with Ari.’


‘I have no problem with you having a drink,’ she said. ‘But next time just call and tell me?’


He raised his arms again helplessly. ‘I know. I honestly thought it would be just a quick drink. But he was in bits, I couldn’t leave him. I-I just lost track of the time, and—’


‘And?’


He shrugged. ‘I don’t have an excuse, but I understand why it’s annoyed you and I apologise. How’s everything here? What’s Noah been up to?’


‘Fine,’ she said. ‘We’ve been cooking, painting, and he’s helped me with the chickens. He’s been asking me about Bruno still, and I got him distracted by making that dinosaur puzzle four times. Still no terrible twos just yet.’ She frowned as if thinking. ‘Oh, yes. We need to watch Humphrey with the hens, he’s showing too much of an interest in them. Keeps licking his lips and obsessing over one of them, watching everything it does.’


‘You think he might go for them? Maybe he’s just interested.’


‘I think if it flaps too much he’ll grab it. It’s just instinct, but we’ll have to watch him,’ she said. ‘So, Glenn?’


After some moments he said, ‘As I said, I have a feeling the wedding might be off.’


‘Lucky I haven’t bought a hat,’ she said.


He gave her a half-hearted smile. ‘I’m just not sure how they are going to work it out.’


‘And? How did you leave it?’


‘I told him to send a huge bunch of flowers to her at the office, in the morning.’


Cleo shook her head. ‘Really?’


‘You don’t think that’s the right thing?’


Shaking her head again, she said, ‘You think any problem can be solved with a bunch of flowers?’


‘A peace offering – no?’


She stared back at him. ‘So what’s happened, exactly?’


He told her the full story. When he’d finished she said, ‘Do you remember what you told me when they first started dating?’


‘No, what?’


‘That it was going to end in tears. That at some time down the line, a cop in love with an ambitious newspaper reporter was always going to end in an ugly compromised situation. Take a bow, Detective Superintendent Grace, your powers of prophecy have proved correct.’


He smiled but she didn’t smile back.


‘So, what do I advise him?’ he asked.


‘To respect her, that’s what women want, not sodding flowers or an expensive trinket. Tell him that if he really loves her and wants a life with her, he can’t interfere with her career. He has to let her do what she needs to do for her work. And if that means delaying having children, he has to wait, and anyhow, she’s still young. I really like her: she’s smart, she’s ambitious and she’s a warm person – he told me those are some of the many things he loves about her. And I do genuinely think she’s a keeper. So he is the one who needs to take a look at himself.’


Grace nodded. ‘That’s kind of what I said.’


‘Glenn started his working life as a nightclub bouncer, if I’m remembering right?’


‘He did.’


‘Then after his son was born, he looked down at him and thought to himself, one day you are going to go to school, and when you do, someone’s going to ask you what your dad does for a living, and I want you to be able to say something you are proud of. That’s why he applied to join the police, right?’
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